IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 19-0431

Upon the Petition of

NO BOUNDRY LLC, Plaintiff-Appellee,

And Concerning

CORNELL HOOSMAN, **Defendant-Appellant**

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANDREA DRYER, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Nathan Peters Iowa Legal Aid 607 Sycamore Street, Suite 304 Waterloo, IA 50703 Phone: (319) 235-7008

Fax: (319) 235-7070 npeters@iowalaw.org

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CORNELL HOOSMAN

Alexander Vincent Kornya Iowa Legal Aid 1111 9th St. Suite 230 Des Moines, IA 50314 Phone: (515)243-1193 Fax: (515) 244-4618

akornya@iowalaw.org

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CORNELL HOOSMAN

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST CORNELL

Cases

Brandenberg v. Feterl Mfg. Co., 603 N.W.2d 580 (Iowa 1999)

Burton v. Hintrager, 18 Iowa 348 (Iowa 1865)

Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Insurance Co. of North America, 513

N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 1994)

Edgar v. Armored Carrier Corp., 128 N.W.2d 922 (Iowa 1965)

Hannan v. Bowles Watch Co.,180 N.W.2d 221 (Iowa 1970)

In re Hickman, 533 N.W.2d 567 (Iowa 1995)

In re Marriage of McGonigle, 533 N.W.2d 524 (Iowa 1995)

Millington v. Kuba, 532 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1995)

Statutes

Iowa Code 445.1

Iowa Code 447.7

Iowa Code 646.6

Rules

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.212

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977

Iowa R. Civ. P 1.211

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is appropriate for assignment to the Court of Appeals because there are no provisions of the Iowa Constitution or statutes that give the Iowa Supreme Court exclusive jurisdiction. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101. This case does not involve any matters that have been set forth as criteria for retention. *Id*. This case involves interpretation of Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.977 and this case should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals because the case presents the application of existing legal principles. *Id*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a default judgment entered against Appellant Cornell Hoosman ("Cornell") in an action for recovery of real estate under Iowa Code Chapter 646. The judgment was entered by default on February 21, 2019. The Appellee, No Boundry, LLC ("No Boundry") obtained a Writ of Removal and Possession on February 25, 2019. Prior to execution of the writ, Cornell filed an Application for Injunction on March 13, 2019. On March 14, 2019, Cornell filed a timely motion asking the court to stay the writ and set aside the judgment that had previously been entered by default.

On March 15, 2019, the district court denied all of Cornell's requests.

Also on March 15, 2019, Cornell filed a motion to enlarge and amend. No Boundry executed the writ on March 18, 2019. Cornell filed his notice of

appeal on the same day. Cornell also asked this Court to stay the execution of the writ. This Court temporarily stayed the writ, and the parties submitted written arguments. The Court ultimately withdrew the stay.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Cornell Hoosman is a disabled man who may lose his home over \$220 in unpaid property taxes, without ever having a meaningful chance to defend himself. Cornell owns his home at 343 Albany Street, Waterloo, Iowa, free and clear of any liens or mortgages. App. 43. Cornell obtained the home in 2011 by quitclaim deed, and it is his only major asset. *Id.* His sole income is \$771 per month in Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and \$64 in food assistance. *Id.* Cornell has been found to be incompetent to stand trial in criminal cases on two separate occasions. App. 23.

Due to unpaid property taxes from 2014, the Black Hawk County Treasurer placed Cornell's home on the tax sale list for June 2016. App. 8-9. A company called Wago 131 purchased the parcel at tax sale on June 20, 2016 for \$220. *Id.* on November 30, 2018, the Black Hawk County Treasurer issued a tax deed in favor of Wago 131, who contemporaneously transferred its interest to No Boundry. *Id.* The deed was recorded on December 11, 2018. *Id.*

Cornell attempted to have his taxes suspended or abated based on his disability in December 2018, but was unsuccessful for reasons not fully

developed in the record. App. 20-21.

No Boundry filed this action on January 14, 2019 petitioning the court for recovery of real estate pursuant to Chapter 646 of the Code of Iowa. App. 6-9. Cornell was personally served with the Original Notice, Petition, and Exhibit A on January 16, 2019. App. 10. No Boundry sent Notice of Intent to File Written Application for Default Judgment to Cornell by mail on February 6, 2019. App. 12. No Boundry filed a Motion for Default on February 19, 2019. App. 14-15. The Iowa District Court in and for Black Hawk County entered the Order for Judgment by default on February 21, 2019, awarding No Boundry immediate and exclusive possession of the residence, and ordered the issuance of a writ of possession. App. 16-17. The district court issued a Writ of Removal and Possession on February 25, 2019, commanding the sheriff to remove Cornell and to put No Boundry in possession of the property. <u>App. 18-19</u>.

Cornell, through attorney Maurice Spencer, filed an "Application for Injunction" on March 13, 2019. <u>App. 20-21</u>. Cornell argued in his application for injunction that if he was allowed an opportunity to present his legal arguments, then the result would likely be an order to set aside the judgment that was entered by default. *Id*.

On March 14, 2019, Cornell obtained an attorney through Iowa Legal Aid. At 8:05 PM the following day, he filed through counsel a Motion to Set

Aside Default. App. 22-24. The motion advanced the argument that he had good cause to set aside the default. *Id*. The motion also clearly stated that Cornell had as a good faith defense in the extended redemption period for persons under legal disability pursuant to Iowa Code 447.7. *Id*. Finally, the motion argued that Cornell's disability would bar issuance of a default judgment as no guardian ad litem had been appointed. *Id*.

The district court denied Cornell's motion on Friday, March 15, 2019 at 9:07AM. App. 25-26. The motion was heard at order hour on arguments of counsel, but no factual record was made. *Id*. The district court did not provide any reasons for the denial of the motion to set aside. *Id*.

Later that day, Cornell filed a Motion to Enlarge and Amend the findings and conclusions of the order denying the Motion to Set Aside Default. App. 27-30. Cornell provided additional details to the allegations made in his earlier motions, and attached a "Competency to Stand Trial Evaluation" from May 2013 as an exhibit. *Id*. Cornell also sought a stay of the eviction.

Amend, the Black Hawk County Sheriff was directed to execute the writ on the following Monday, March 18, 2019. Resistance to Application to Stay Writ. Faced with immediate removal from his home, Cornell filed a Notice of Appeal on Monday, March 18, at 11:40 AM, and requested a stay. Notice of Appeal. The Iowa Supreme Court entered an order temporarily granting the

request for stay. Order Granting Stay. The order was signed at 2:51 PM on Monday March 18. *Id*. By that time, the Sheriff had already executed the writ causing No Boundry to be put in possession of the property and causing Cornell to be removed from possession of the property. Resistance to Application to Stay Writ. The parties submitted written arguments about the order for stay. This Court entered an order on March 20, 2019 denying Cornell's request to stay the writ. Order Denying Writ.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFAULT AGAINST CORNELL SHOULD HAVE BEEN SET ASIDE

Preservation of Error & Scope of Review

Cornell argues that the district court erred in not setting aside the default due to good cause shown, and due to the failure to appoint a guardian ad litem.

Error was preserved in his Motion to Set Aside and his Notice of Appeal.

The district court has broad discretion in ruling on a motion and will be reversed only for abuse of discretion. *Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Insurance Co. of North America*, 513 N.W.2d 750, 754 (Iowa 1994). However:

We are more reluctant to interfere with a court's grant of a motion to set aside a default and a default judgment than with its denial. In that sense, we look with disfavor on a denial of such a motion, and we think all doubt should be resolved in favor of setting aside the default and default judgment. This attitude reflects our view of the underlying purpose of rule 236: 'to allow a determination of controversies on their merits rather than on the basis of nonprejudicial inadvertence or mistake.'

Brandenberg v. Feterl Mfg. Co., 603 N.W.2d 580 (Iowa 1999) (internal citations omitted).

Discussion

A. There Was Good Cause To Set Aside The Default Judgment

"On motion and for good cause shown... the court may set aside a default or the judgment thereon, for mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or unavoidable casualty." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977. A motion to set aside a default should be liberally considered. *Brandenburg* at 584. "Good cause is a sound, effective, and truthful reason. It is something more than an excuse, a plea, apology, extenuation, or some justification, for the resulting effect." *Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha* at 754. "Unavoidable casualty" is some casualty or misfortune arising from conditions or circumstances that prevented the party from doing something that, except for the misfortune, would have been done. *Id.* at 755.

As opposed to unavoidable casualty, reviewing courts require some evidence showing intent or bad faith by the defaulting party in order to maintain the default. "To uphold the denial of a motion to set aside a default

and default judgment, there must be substantial evidence that the defaulting party willfully ignored or defied the rules of procedure." *Brandenburg* at 585. This bar to uphold a denial of a set-aside is higher because "[t]he purpose of the rule is to allow determination of a controversy on its merits, rather than on the basis of non-prejudicial inadvertence or mistake." *Hannan v. Bowles Watch Co.*,180 N.W.2d 221 (Iowa 1970), *citing Edgar v. Armored Carrier Corp.*, 128 N.W.2d 922 (Iowa 1965).

The Iowa Supreme Court has synthesized these principles into a three-factor test, laid out as follows:

First, did the defaulting party actually intend to defend? Whether the party moved promptly to set aside the default is significant on this point. Second, does the defaulting party assert a claim or defense in good faith? Third, did the defaulting party willfully ignore or defy the rules of procedure or was the default simply the result of a mistake?

Central Nat. Ins. Of Omaha at 756.

Applying the first factor of the test to the present case, Cornell intended to defend the suit. He promptly filed his motion to set aside 21 days after the judgment, which weighs in favor of granting the motion to set aside default. *See Millington v. Kuba*, 532 N.W.2d 787, 792 (Iowa 1995). More fundamentally, due to the nature of his disability, the record such as it is suggests Cornell was unable to raise a defense without assistance. As soon as he obtained legal counsel, counsel filed a motion on his behalf to try to return

to the merits of this case.

Second, Cornell had a good faith defense, explored in Section I-B of the argument section of this brief.

Finally, there is no evidence in the record that Cornell willfully ignored or defied the rules of civil procedure, nor did the district court so find. In order to willfully ignore or violate the rules, one must first understand what they are. Due to the nature of his disability, Cornell could not form the requisite intent to willfully game the system by defying the rules concerning default judgments. To find otherwise would serve only to punish him for a fact which he cannot help. His disability should not bar him from having his case heard on its merits.

B. Cornell Had a Good Faith Defense, i.e. The Extended Redemption Period For Persons Under a Legal Disability

For the purposes of setting aside a default judgment, "[g]ood cause also requires at least a claimed defense asserted in good faith." *Central Nat. Ins.*Co. of Omaha at 754. Should he be allowed to present it, Cornell has a meritorious and straightforward defense to the action, in that he has extra time to redeem his property based on his legal disability – i.e., that he is "of unsound mind." Iowa Code 445.1(6).

The statutorily prescribed tax deed form states that the tax deed holder's rights are subject "to all the rights of redemption provided by law." Iowa Code

448.2. Statutes authorizing redemption of lands from tax sales will be construed liberally in favor of parties entitled to redeem. *Burton v. Hintrager*, 18 Iowa 348 (Iowa 1865).

The general rule is that property can be redeemed before execution of the tax deed. However, this rule is superseded by statute in regard to interests held by persons with legal disabilities:

[i]f a parcel of a person with a legal disability is sold at tax sale and the county treasurer has delivered the treasurer's deed, the person with the legal disability or the person's legal representative may redeem the parcel at any time prior to one year after the legal disability is removed by bringing an equitable action for redemption in the district court of the county where the parcel is located[.]

Iowa Code 447.7. The statute goes on to establish the process by which redemption may take place for those under legal disability:

If the court determines that the person maintaining the action or the person's legal representative is entitled to redeem by virtue of legal disability or prior legal disability, the court shall so order. The order shall determine the rights, claims, and interests of all parties, including liens for taxes and claims for improvements made on or to the parcel by the person claiming under the tax title. The order shall establish the amount necessary to effect redemption. The redemption amount shall include the amount for redemption computed in accordance with section 447.1 or 447.3, whichever is applicable, including interest computed up to and including the date of payment of the total redemption amount to the clerk of court and the amount of all costs added to the redemption amount in accordance with section 447.13.

Upon timely receipt of the payment, the court shall enter judgment declaring the treasurer's deed to be void and determining the resulting rights, claims, and interests of all parties to the action. In its judgment, the court shall direct the clerk of court to deliver the entire amount of the redemption payment to the person claiming title under the treasurer's deed.

Id.

The statute also contemplates the situation exemplified by the present case — i.e., that the legal disability often prevents the person from understanding and thus executing their redemption rights until they are facing down an action by the tax deed buyer for possession. The Code provides:

If a person with a legal disability remains in possession of the parcel after the recording of the treasurer's deed, and if the person claiming under the tax title properly commences an action to remove the person from possession, the person with a legal disability shall forfeit any rights of redemption that the person may have under this section, unless... a counterclaim in the removal action asserting the [person's] redemption rights[.]

Id.

The legislature has recognized for over a century that it is unfair to award a windfall by virtue of a tax deed obtained against someone who was legally unable to present a defense. As it stands now, No Boundry has obtained Cornell's home, the only major asset he owns and may ever own, for unpaid taxes totaling a paltry \$220. Furthermore, the tax deed was only obtained by circumventing the extended redemption rights granted to those under legal disability. The court should not allow Cornell's interests in this matter to perish without affording him the opportunity to put up a fair fight and defend himself, now that he has finally obtained counsel and unlocked the path to

protect his home.

C. Iowa Rule Of Civil Procedure 1.211 Prohibits Default Judgment Without A Defense Against A Person Who Is Under A Legal Disability

The final reason that the judgment against Cornell must be set aside is that it was granted without first appointing a guardian ad litem. Iowa R. Civ. P 1.211 provides that "[n]o judgment without a defense shall be entered against a party adjudged incompetent, or whose physician certifies to the court that the party appears to be mentally incapable of conducting a defense." Furthermore, "[i]f a party served with original notice appears to be subject to rule 1.211, the court may appoint a guardian ad litem for the party[.]" Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.212. Rule 1.212 is intended to bring before the court, through one acting as an officer of the court, the vicarious presence of one who for some reason is unable to attend a civil trial or present a defense. *In re Marriage of McGonigle*, 533 N.W.2d 524, 525 (Iowa 1995).

In the case of *In re Hickman*, 533 N.W.2d 567 (Iowa 1995), the Iowa Supreme Court held that the requirement to appoint a guardian ad litem did not apply to civil asset forfeiture cases. The Court reasoned that, because a forfeiture action is styled as being brought against the property itself and not the owner, rule 1.211 would not apply to this kind of *in rem* proceeding. *Id*. However, the present action is not a civil forfeiture action. Furthermore, an action under Iowa Code Chapter 646 allows for the recovery of damages as

well as possession. Iowa Code 646.6. No Boundary did in fact seek damages against Cornell in their petition. Petition.

Cornell was adjudged incompetent to stand trial twice in two separate criminal cases within the six years preceding judgment in the present case. Cornell further alleged that he was currently under a disability. The district court did not make findings to the contrary, nor set the matter for an evidentiary hearing. Had a guardian ad litem been timely appointed, that person could have raised as an affirmative defense the extended redemption period pursuant to Iowa Code 447.7(3)(a). The failure to appoint a guardian ad litem renders the judgment voidable, and provides an additional basis for setting aside the default.

CONCLUSION

Cornell requests the Court reverse the district court's order denying his Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment, allow him to file an answer and counterclaims, and remand for further proceedings on the merits.

REQUEST FOR ORAL SUBMISSION

Cornell Hoosman respectfully requests oral argument.