IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 19-0431

Upon the Petition of

NO BOUNDRY, LLC, Plaintiff - Appellee,

And Concerning

CORNELL HOOSMAN, Defendant - Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANDREA DRYER, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

Charles P. Augustine
Klatt, Augustine Treinen & Rastede, P.C.
531 Commercial St., Ste. 250
Waterloo, IA 50701
Phone: (319) 232-3304
Fax: (319) 232-3639

caugustine@klatt-law.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE NO BOUNDRY, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
ROU'	TING	STATEMENT 5
STAT	ГЕМЕ	NT OF THE CASE5
STAT	ГЕМЕ	NT OF THE FACTS
ARG	UMEN	NT
I.	DEFI HOO	DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST ENDANT-APPELLANT CORNELL SMAN PROPERLY WAS NOT SET ASIDE
	of Review10	
	Argu	ment
	A.	Appellant Cornell Hoosman Failed to Show Good Cause For Setting Aside the Judgment
	В.	The Entry of the Judgment by Default Was Not Contrary to Rule 1.211 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure
CON	CLUS	ION
REQU	UEST	FOR NON-ORAL SUBMISSION
COST	ΓCER	TIFICATE
CERT	ΓIFIC	ATE OF COMPLIANCE
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Insurance Co. of North America, 513 N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 1994)
Dealers Warehouse Co., v. Wahl and Associates, 216 N.W.2d 391 (Iowa 1974)
<u>Larson v. Baker</u> , 16 N.W.2d 262 (Iowa 1944)
<u>Svoboda v. Svoboda</u> , 60 N.W.2d 859 (Iowa 1953)
Williamson v. Casey, 220 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1974)
STATUTES
Iowa Code § 447.1 (2019)
Iowa Code § 646.1 (2019)
RULES
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.211
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANTAPPELLANT CORNELL HOOSMAN PROPERLY WAS NOT SET
ASIDE

CASES

Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Insurance Co. of North America, 513 N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 1994)

<u>Dealers Warehouse Co., v. Wahl and Associates</u>, 216 N.W.2d 391 (Iowa 1974)

Larson v. Baker, 16 N.W.2d 262 (Iowa 1944)

Svoboda v. Svoboda, 60 N.W.2d 859 (Iowa 1953)

Williamson v. Casey, 220 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1974)

STATUTES

Iowa Code § 447.1 (2019)

Iowa Code § 646.1 (2019)

RULES

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.211

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because it does not involve provisions of the Iowa Constitution or any specific statutes that grant exclusive jurisdiction to the supreme court and it does not involve any of the specific matters described in Rule 6.1101(2). Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(1)-(2). Further, it concerns the application of existing legal principles; particularly in connection with the interpretation of Rules 1.211 and 1.977 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(1)-(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee, No Boundry, LLC (hereinafter "No Boundry"), filed a petition for recovery of real property pursuant to Chapter 646 of the Code of Iowa on January 14, 2019. On February 21, 2019, the district court entered a judgment in favor of No Boundry declaring that No Boundry was entitled to immediate possession of the real property that is the subject matter of this proceeding and ordering the clerk of court to issue a writ of possession directing the removal of Appellant Cornell Hoosman and any other parties in possession and the placement of No Boundry in possession. The clerk of

court issued a writ of removal and possession on February 25, 2019. On March 13, 2019, prior to execution on the writ, Mr. Hoosman filed an application for injunction. On March 14, 2019, Mr. Hoosman filed a motion requesting that the district court's judgment be set aside and requesting that the court stay execution of the writ of removal and possession. Following hearing, on March 15, 2019, the district court entered an order denying Mr. Hoosman's application and motion.

Following the district court's ruling, on Mach 15, 2019, Mr. Hoosman filed a motion to enlarge and amend. On March 18, 2019, the office of the Black Hawk County Sheriff executed on the writ of possession and removal, removing Mr. Hoosman and placing No Boundry in possession of the property. Thereafter, Mr. Hoosman filed a notice of appeal and asked this Court to stay execution of the writ. This Court initially stayed execution on the writ but later withdrew that stay following submission of written arguments by the parties.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This matter concerns real property locally known as 343 Albany

Street, Waterloo, Iowa and legally described as The West 30 feet of Lot 11

in Shilliam's Second Subdivision, Waterloo, Black Hawk County, Iowa (hereinafter the "Real Estate"). App. 6. Due to the non-payment of real estate taxes assessed to the Real Estate, it was sold at tax sale pursuant to Chapter 446 of the Code of Iowa on June 20, 2016, to Wago 131 in return for Wago 131's payment of all such outstanding taxes and interest. App. 8-9. Thereafter, Wago 131 served notice of expiration of right of redemption from the tax sale on Hoosman and all other necessary parties by regular and certified mail pursuant to section 447.9 of the Code of Iowa, and filed an affidavit reflecting said completed service with the office of the Black Hawk County Treasurer on August 31, 2018. Id.

Despite having been served with notice of the expiration of right of redemption, neither Hoosman nor any other party redeemed from the tax sale, and on November 30, 2018, following the assignment of the tax sale certificate to No Boundry, the county treasurer issued a tax sale deed conveying to No Boundry fee title to all of the Real Estate. <u>Id.</u>

No Boundry filed a petition for recovery of real property pursuant to Chapter 646 of the Code of Iowa on January 14, 2019. App. 6-9. On January 16, 2019, Mr. Hoosman was served by means of personal service with original notice and a copy of the No Boundry's petition. App. 10-11.

On February 6, 2019, No Boundry caused notice of its intent to file written application for default judgment to be mailed to Mr. Hoosman. <u>App. 12-13</u>. Thereafter, no answer or other response having been filed by Mr. Hoosman or any other party, No Boundry filed a motion for default judgment on February 19, 2019. <u>App. 14-15</u>.

On February 21, 2019, the district court rendered judgment in favor of No Boundry. App. 16-17. In the district court's judgment, it declared that No Boundry was entitled to immediate possession of the Real Estate and it ordered the clerk of court to issue a writ of possession commanding the county sheriff to remove Mr. Hoosman and other parties in possession and place No Boundry in possession. Id. The clerk issued the writ on February 25, 2019. App. 18.

On March 13, 2019, prior to execution on the writ, Mr. Hoosman filed an application for injunction. <u>App. 20-21</u>. On March 14, 2019, Mr. Hoosman filed a motion requesting that the court's judgment for recovery of real property be set aside and requesting that the court stay execution of the writ of removal and possession. <u>App. 22-24</u>. Following hearing on March 15, 2019, the district court entered an order denying Mr. Hoosman's requests. App. 25-26.

Following the district court's ruling, on March 15, 2019, Mr.

Hoosman filed a motion to enlarge and amend. App. 27-42. As a part of that motion to enlarge and amend, Mr. Hoosman provided a report entitled "Competency to Stand Trial." App. 31-42. No evidence was provided at the hearing on March 15 or in the motion to enlarge and amend that Mr.

Hoosman presently was adjudicated, or certified by his physician, to be incompetent or mentally incapable of conducting a defense.

On March 18, 2019, the office of the Black Hawk County Sheriff executed on the writ of possession and removal, thereby removing Mr. Hoosman and placing No Boundry in possession of the Real Estate.

Resistance to Application to Stay. Thereafter, Mr. Hoosman filed a notice of appeal and asked this Court to stay execution of the writ. Notice of Appeal. This Court initially stayed execution on the writ but later withdrew that stay following submission of written arguments by the parties. Order Denying Application to Stay.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT-APPELLANT CORNELL HOOSMAN PROPERLY WAS NOT SET ASIDE.

Error Preservation, Scope of Review and Standard of Review.

Appellee agrees with Appellant's position as to preservation of error. A trial court has wide discretion in ruling on a motion to set aside a default judgment under Rule 1.977 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure. Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Insurance Co. of North America, 513 N.W.2d 750, 753 (Iowa 1994). Such a ruling may be reversed only upon a finding that the trial court abused its discretion. Id. The appellate court is bound by the district court's findings of fact and will uphold the trial court's ruling even when the court has made no specific findings of fact. Id.

Argument.

Appellant Cornell Hoosman argues that the district court erred in failing to set aside its judgment granting Appellee immediate and exclusive possession of the Real Estate and directing the clerk of court to issue a writ of possession. The basis of Appellant's argument is that there was good cause to set aside the Judgment and that the district court's entry of the Judgment was contrary to Rule 1.211 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure, which prohibits the entry of a judgment without defense against a person adjudged incompetent. Contrary to the Appellant's arguments, however, the

district court properly refused to set aside the Judgment it had entered in favor of the Appellee.

A. Appellant Cornell Hoosman Failed to Show Good Cause For Setting Aside the Judgment.

Rule 1.977 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a default judgment may be set aside "for good cause shown . . . for [the grounds of] mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or unavoidable casualty." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977. A movant shows "good cause" under Rule 1.977 "only if one of said grounds in the rule is proved." Williamson v. Casey, 220 N.W.2d 638, 639 (Iowa 1974). In addition, good cause requires the existence of a meritorious defense asserted in good faith. Svoboda v. Svoboda, 60 N.W.2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1953).

Although the rule is construed to favor trials on the merits, in moving to set aside a default judgment, the burden is on the movant to prove good cause on one of the specifically permitted grounds under Rule 1.977.

Dealers Warehouse Co., v. Wahl and Associates, 216 N.W.2d 391, 394

(Iowa 1974). To be successful, the movant must show that "his failure to defend was not due to his negligence or want of ordinary care or attention or to his carelessness or inattention . . . [and that] he did intend to defend and

took steps to do so." Id. at 394-395. The "[t]rial court findings of fact in deciding the motion have the force of a jury verdict and, under those facts, a trial court is vested with wide discretion in ruling on the motion." Id. at 394. A trial court's decision should be reversed only based upon an abuse of discretion. Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, at 753. On appeal, the evidence is reviewed in "the light most favorable to the district court's ruling" Id. An appellate court "will uphold the district court's ruling even when the court has made no findings of fact." Id. The task of the appellate court "is to decide, viewing the evidence in its light most favorable to the [trial court's] ruling, whether a rule [1.977] ground exists in the record to support the exercise of trial court discretion in ruling as it did." Williamson, at 640.

Mr. Hoosman failed to show that his failure to defend at district court was due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or unavoidable casualty as opposed to his negligence, carelessness, or inattention. Further, he failed to show that he intended to defend himself or took steps to do so. He was served with original notice by personal service.

App. 10-11. He made no objection to the contents of the notice or its service. No Boundry properly caused notice of intent to seek a default judgment to be mailed to Mr. Hoosman. App. 12-13. Mr. Hoosman raised

no objection to the contents of said notice or on the basis that it was improperly served. According to Mr. Hoosman, he "has been trying to defend himself in this action for many months," and he previously had tried to submit a petition to abate and suspend his property taxes. App. 28. However, despite being entirely aware of No Boundry's actions adverse to his interest in the Real Estate, and despite having received the original notice, petition, and No Boundry's notice of intent to seek default, Mr. Hoosman took no steps to present a defense in the district court proceeding until well after the entry of the Judgment when execution on the writ of possession issued by the clerk of court was imminent.

The "good cause" required by Rule 1.977 also mandates that the movant have "a claimed defense in good faith." Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, at 754. Any such claimed defense must be meritorious in nature.

See Svoboda, at 863 (stating that a "default is not to be set aside as a mere futile gesture; which it would be if defendant claims no meritorious defense"). Mr. Hoosman has no such meritorious defense. The basis of No Boundry's action is for the recovery of real property under Chapter 646 of the Code of Iowa. The purpose of such an action is for the recovery of the possession, and not the determination of title, to real estate. In an action for

recovery or real property under Chapter 646, "the right to possession and not the title [is] the subject matter of such an action." Larson v. Baker, 16 N.W.2d 262, 265 (Iowa 1944). No Boundry's petition was for the recovery of possession of real property to which it holds title by tax sale deed; which title is undisputed by Mr. Hoosman. Mr. Hoosman seeks to set aside the Judgment in order to argue his right to redeem from the tax sale upon which No Boundry's tax title is based. Chapter 646 does not allow for this. Pursuant to section 646.1, "[a]ctions for the recovery of real property shall be by ordinary proceedings, and there shall be no joinder and no counterclaim therein." Iowa Code § 646.1 (2019). If Mr. Hoosman seeks to redeem from the tax sale upon which No Boundry's title is based, he cannot do so as a part of an action at law under Chapter 646. Rather, he must do so by an equitable action brought pursuant to section 447.8 of the Code of Iowa. See Iowa Code § 447.1(a) (2019) ("After the delivery of [a tax sale] deed, a person entitled to redeem a parcel sold at a tax sale shall do so only by an equitable action in the district court."). Because Mr. Hoosman cannot argue his right to redeem from the tax sale upon which No Boundry's title is based in the district court proceeding from which this appeal was taken, he has no meritorious defense to the Judgment and therefore no good cause for

the setting aside of the Judgment.

B. The Entry of the Judgment by Default Was Not Contrary to Rule 1.211 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 1.211 prohibits the entry of a judgment by default against a party "adjudged incompetent, or whose physician certifies to the court that the party appears to be mentally incapable of conducting a defense." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.211. The district court's entry of the Judgment by default was not at odds with the provisions of this Rule. Although Mr. Hoosman asserted that he previously had been adjudged incompetent there was no evidence that he was incompetent during the pendency of No Boundry's petition for recovery or real property, and specifically at the time of the district court's entry of the Judgment. To support his assertions of incompetence, Mr. Hoosman's points to the report of a psychologist that is more than six years old. See App. 27-42 (including attached Competency to Stand Trial Report from 2013). However, there was no evidence presented that Mr. Hoosman remains in the same condition as described in said report. Further, Rule 1.211 requires an adjudication of incompetency. Although Mr. Hoosman's Motion to Enlarge and Amend Findings and Conclusions by Court mentions the dismissal of prior criminal proceedings, there was no evidence presented

as to any such adjudication. Further, there was no evidence of the certification of Mr. Hoosman's incompetence by his physician. Therefore, there was no evidence sufficient to support Mr. Hoosman's assertion that the district court's entry of the Judgment by default was contrary to Rule 1.211 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Appellant No Boundry respectfully requests that the trial court's Judgment be affirmed, and that costs be assessed to Appellant.

REQUEST FOR NON-ORAL SUBMISSION

This case presents no issue of first impression and does not require further explanation. Therefore, Appellee respectfully states that no oral argument is necessary.

COST CERTIFICATE

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(j) the undersigned certifies that the actual cost of reproducing the necessary copies of this document was \$0.00.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION

This brief complies with the typeface requirements and type-volume limitation of Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(1)(d) and 6.903(1)(g)(1) or (2) because:

[X] This brief has been prepared in proportionally spaced typeface using Times New Roman in 14 pt. and contains 2,508 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1).